FILED Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington 1/13/2022 3:41 PM FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/14/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

**NO.** 100570-9

COA NO. 37750-4-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

V.

### DAHNDRE KAVAUGN WESTWOOD,

Respondent.

### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Kevin J. McCrae - #43087 Prosecuting Attorney

PO Box 37 Ephrata WA 98823 Phone: (509)754-2011 kjmccrae@grantcountywa.gov

###

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals Decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court should review the decision regarding the proper standard to apply to the same criminal conduct test of RCW 9.94A.589. A copy of the decision is in the appendix at pages A-1 through A-13.

### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

What is the proper standard for the Court to apply in determining the intent prong of same criminal conduct?

### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A.B. was sitting in her house texting at 4:20 or so in the morning when she heard a noise. RP 197. She looked up and saw someone tall, skinny and athletic with a bandana around his face and a knife in his hand. RP 198. She yelled at him to get out, but he ordered her and forced her to her room. RP 199.

She fought back. *Id.* As she fought back, the assailant threatened to kill her and scratched her with the knife. RP 200. The assailant pushed A.B. down on the bed and tried to suffocate her. RP 202. The assault finally stopped when the third set of headlights passed A.B.'s bedroom window. *Id.* The assailant stopped, looked outside and said that if A.B. told anyone, he would come back and kill her. *Id.* During the struggle, A.B. managed to scratch her assailant. RP 220. Dahndre Westwood's DNA was found on A.B.'s fingertips. RP 478-79.

The case proceeded to trial, where Mr. Westwood was convicted of attempted rape in the first degree, assault in the first degree, assault in the second degree and burglary in the first degree. At sentencing the trial court ruled, under *State v*. *Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016), that the attempted rape, assault in the first degree and burglary convictions were not the same criminal conduct. RP Jan 8 47. On appeal Mr. Westwood challenged the Court's application of

Chenoweth, instead arguing State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d 207, 216-17, 743 P.2d 1237, 1241-42 (1987), provided the controlling standard. In an unpublished decision issued March 19, 2020 the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court and held that *Chenoweth* was limited to cases of rape and incest, and the trial court should apply *Dunaway*. Eighteen days later, on April 7, 2020, Division 2 of the Court of Appeals published State v. Johnson, 12 Wn. App. 2d 201, 213, 460 P.3d 1091, 1098, review granted on a different issue, 196 Wn.2d 1001, 471 P.3d 227 (2020), applying *Chenoweth* to crimes other than rape or incest. The Trial Court, faced with competing mandatory precedent, followed relevant case law and applied the published opinion, declining to resentence Mr. Westwood.

Mr. Westwood again appealed. The Court of Appeals, in a published opinion, disagreed with *Johnson* and again instructed the trial court to apply *Dunaway*. This petition for review seeks to resolve the conflict in the lower courts.

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This case presents a fully developed and acknowledged split in the Court of Appeals. Where legislative intent shows that the legislature intended to punish crimes separately, is the proper test for same criminal conduct pursuant to RCW 9.94A.589 determined under *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237, 1241 (1987), or *State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016)?

A. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016), and *State v. Johnson*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 201, 213, 460 P.3d 1091, 1098, review granted on a different issue, 196 Wn.2d 1001, 471 P.3d 227 (2020).

RCW 9.94A.589(1) governs same criminal conduct analysis, which in this case determines whether Mr.

Westwood's attempted rape in the first degree and assault in the first degree sentences run concurrently or consecutively to one another under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(b). "Same criminal conduct" means two or more crimes that require the same

criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim. Courts have struggled with the meaning of the term same criminal intent.

In *Dunaway* the Court held that the test was to look to see if there was a change in the nature of the criminal objective. *Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d at 214. In *Chenoweth*, the Court looked to statutory intent and determined that rape and incest did not bear the same statutory intent. The Court asked the question of whether the two offenses merited separate punishment. *Id.* at 222.

In their subsequent decisions the Court of Appeals have not been able to reconcile the reasoning of *Chenoweth* with the reasoning of *Dunaway*. Instead the Appellate Courts have held that either the Courts should follow *Chenoweth*, as the most recent pronouncement on the subject, *Johnson*, 12 Wn. App 2d at 211, or *Dunaway*, as the Court did not explicitly overrule *Dunaway*, and have consigned *Chenoweth* to a special case regarding rape and incest. *State v. Westwood*, \_\_ Wn. App. \_\_,

P.3d \_\_ (2021); State v. Hatt, 11 Wn. App. 2d 113, 142, 452
P.3d 577, 593 (2019). Unpublished cases have also
demonstrated this division. State v. Santos, No. 75614-1-I,
2018 WL 1110496, at \*3 n.1 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 26, 2018);
State v. McDonough, No. 75337-1-I, 2018 WL 1611616, at \*3-4 n.1 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 2, 2018) (applying Dunaway); State v. Yusuf, No. 75571-4-I, 2018 WL 1168724, at \*6-7 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 5, 2018) (applying Chenoweth to convictions for assault and harassment); State v. Baza, No. 48541-9-II, 2017
WL 589189, at \*3-4 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 14, 2017) (applying Chenoweth to convictions for assault, felony harassment, and felony violation of a no-contact order).

However, treating rape and incest as a special case is not a valid reading of *Chenoweth*. *Chenoweth* interprets RCW 9.94A.589. This is a statute that applies to all felonies. There is nothing in the rape of a child statute and/or the incest statute that would make them a special case. Nor is there anything in the SRA that would even suggest those two crimes are a special

case. There is simply no statutory language that would justify making these two crimes a special case. Therefore, *Westwood* conflicts with *Chenoweth*.

B. This case presents a significant question of law and an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(3)(4).

1. Where the legislature has intended separate punishments, the crimes are to be punished separately.

This court has ruled, at least twice, that where the legislature has expressed an intent to punish defendants separately for separate crimes they are separate criminal conduct. One instance is *Chenoweth*. The other is in the case of burglary. Under the burglary anti merger statute, RCW 9A.52.050, the trial court has discretion to punish the burglary and the underlying crime separately, notwithstanding the same criminal conduct analysis. *State v. Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d 773, 781, 827 P.2d 996, 1000 (1992). This case falls into the same category.

2. Assault in the first degree, when combined with a crime that has assault in the second or fourth degree as an element or alternative means, is intended to be punished separately.

There are several crimes that have either simple assault (assault in the fourth degree) or assault with a deadly weapon (assault in the second degree) as elements or alternative means. They include rape in the first or second degree, kidnapping in the first or second degree, robbery in the first or second degree and burglary in the first degree. What distinguishes assault in the first degree from assault in the second or fourth degree is the intent to inflict great bodily harm. Compare RCW 9A.36.011 with RCW 9A.36.021, 041. "'Great bodily harm' means bodily injury which creates a probability of death, or which causes significant serious permanent disfigurement, or which causes a significant permanent loss or impairment of the function of any bodily part or organ." RCW 9A.04.110(4)(c). There can be no doubt that the intent to inflict great bodily

harm is worthy of additional punishment over and above the underlying crime.

For example, rape in the first degree and assault in the first degree are both serious level XII crimes. RCW 9.94A.515. This means that if they are considered the same criminal conduct, one goes unpunished, because they would both have the same sentence run concurrently. If a person commits a rape in the first degree with the intent to inflict great bodily harm, for example by stabbing them or gouging their eyes out, the punishment would be exactly the same as if the person simply committed rape in the first degree without intending to inflict great bodily harm. Naturally, the legislature would conclude the intent to inflict great bodily harm is worth additional punishment beyond the simple intent to assault inherent in the underlying crime.

Indeed, this court has determined the legislature has done exactly that in the double jeopardy context. "The dispositive question today is whether, and if so, when, the legislature

intended to punish separately both a robbery elevated to first degree by an assault, and the assault itself." *State v. Freeman*, 153 Wn.2d 765, 771, 108 P.3d 753, 756 (2005). In *Freeman* the court analyzed two different robbery cases, one supported by first degree assault, and one supported by second degree assault. The Court held that the legislature intended the first degree assault to be punished separately from the robbery, but not the second degree assault, particularly when the "lesser" charge of assault in the first degree had a greater sentence.

The same is true in this case. The "lesser" charge of assault in first degree has a greater sentencing range than attempted rape in the first degree. The intent to inflict great bodily harm is worthy of greater punishment than the intent to assault with a deadly weapon or inflict serious physical injury inherent in the crime of attempted rape in the first degree.

### F. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals analysis, that *Chenoweth* placed incest and rape of a child in a special category, is illogical in the

light of the statutory scheme. *Chenoweth* holds that where the legislature intended different punishments differing statutory intents meant that the crimes were not same criminal conduct. There is a clear split in published Court of Appeals cases. In addition, the published and unpublished cases on this issue indicate that this is an important issue of law that needs clarification. The Court should accept review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and uphold the trial court's judgment and sentence, with the exception of legal financial obligations, which need to be corrected on remand.

This document contains 1,788 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.