FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/7/2022 8:00 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1005709

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

DAHNDRE KAVAUGN WESTWOOD,

Respondent.

ON STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III, 37750-4-III

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRANT COUNTY

The Honorable Judge John Knodell

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jill S. Reuter, WSBA #38374 Eastern Washington Appellate Law PO Box 8302 Spokane, WA 99203 Phone: (509) 242-3910 admin@ewalaw.com

A. INTRODUCTION

At sentencing, Dahndre Westwood argued his convictions for attempted first degree rape, first degree burglary, and first degree assault should be considered same criminal conduct. The trial court disagreed, applying the intent analysis from *State v. Chenoweth*. On appeal, the Court of Appeals concluded this was the wrong legal analysis, and remanded the case for resentencing, to apply the intent analysis from State v. Dunaway. On remand, the trial court again applied the intent analysis from State v. Chenoweth. Mr. Westwood appealed, and the Court of Appeals remanded the case for resentencing for a second time, again instructing the trial court to apply the intent analysis from State v. Dunaway. The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent governing the same criminal conduct analysis. *State v. Chenoweth* does not apply, and it did not overrule *State v*. *Dunaway.* This Court should deny the State's petition for review.

B. RESTATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals properly apply this Court's precedent governing the same criminal conduct analysis, where *State v*. *Chenoweth* is limited to the crimes of rape of a child and incest, and this Court has not overruled its same criminal conduct test set forth in *State v*. *Dunaway*?

C. <u>RESTATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

Following a jury trial, Dahndre Westwood was convicted of three crimes, committed in 2012 when he was a fourteen year old child: attempted first degree rape, first degree burglary, and first degree assault. (1 CP 423, 426, 428-429, 594-616; 1 RP 661-663, 668-670, 672-676; 2 RP 36-37).¹

¹ The record from Mr. Westwood's first appeal in this case, COA No. 35792-9-III, was transferred to this appeal. Both the record from his first appeal and this appeal are cited herein. For ease of reference, the Clerk's Papers from his first appeal are referred to herein as "1 CP." The Clerk's Papers for this appeal are referred to herein as "2 CP." The Report of Proceedings are referred to herein as follows: (1) "1 RP" = five volumes, reported by Tom R. Bartunek, containing the jury trial, filed in Mr. Westwood's first appeal on May 7, 2018; (2) "2 RP" = one volume, transcribed by Amy Brittingham, contain various hearings, including sentencing, filed in Mr. Westwood's first appeal on April 9, 2018.

At sentencing Mr. Westwood argued his three convictions should be considered same criminal conduct. (1 CP 445, 455-457; 2 RP 41-44). He argued the first degree burglary and the first degree assault were committed in order to further the attempted first degree rape. (2 RP 41-44). Mr. Westwood argued he cited case law that was not specifically overruled by *State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016). (1 CP 445, 455-457; 2 RP 41-42).

The State did not contest "the notion that the burglary and the assault were committed in order to further the attempted rape." (2 CP 15; 2 RP 44). However, the State argued that each of the three convictions should be counted separately as current convictions in Mr. Westwood's offender score. (1 CP 479-483; 2 RP 37-41, 46-47). The State argued the attempted first degree rape and the first degree assault should not be considered same criminal conduct, because "[u]nder *State v*. *Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 370 P.3d 6 (2016) the court looks to the mens rea in the statutes in determining different intents[,]" and the crimes have different statutory mens rea. (1 CP 482-483, 487-488; 2 RP 37-41, 46-47).

The trial court ruled that Mr. Westwood's three convictions were not same criminal conduct, and stated "I'm going to adopt the State's interpretation of <u>Chenoweth</u>." (2 RP 47).

Mr. Westwood appealed. (1 CP 623-624). In an unpublished opinion, the Court of Appeals remanded the case for resentencing for the trial court to determine whether the three convictions involve the same criminal conduct. (2 CP 2-31); *see also State v. Westwood*, No. 35792-9-III, 2020 WL 1650714, at *1-7 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 19, 2020). The Court of Appeals held "[a]s *Chenoweth* does not purport to overrule *Dunaway* or its progeny, its holding and rationale are limited to cases of rape and incest arising from a single act." (2 CP 14); *see also State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 224, 370 P.3d 6 (2016); *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987). The Court of Appeals mandated the case back to the trial court for further proceedings in accordance with its unpublished opinion. (2 CP 1).

On remand, the trial court found Mr. Westwood failed to prove his three convictions constitute the same criminal conduct, and declined to resentence him. (2 CP 63-71, 74-84).

In its written ruling, the trial court acknowledged the Court of Appeals instructed it to apply the same criminal conduct analysis set forth in *Dunaway*. (2 CP 76). However, the trial court then found the intent element of same criminal conduct refers to "the intent element in the statutory definition of any given crime." (2 CP 78). Using this analysis, the trial court found the crimes at issue were not the same criminal conduct. (2 CP 83).

Mr. Westwood appealed. (2 CP 85-86). In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's order on resentencing and remanded the case for resentencing. The Court of Appeals held: [T]he sentencing court committed legal error (and thereby abused its discretion) when, on remand, it analyzed Mr. Westwood's same criminal conduct argument under *Chenoweth* instead of *Dunaway*. Given this error, we again remand for resentencing pursuant to *Dunaway*.

State v. Westwood, 500 P.3d 182, 187 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 16, 2021).

The State now seeks review of this opinion.

D. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent governing the same criminal conduct analysis, and review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b). The

Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent

governing the same criminal conduct analysis.

RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) sets forth when two or more

current offenses should be counted as one crime for sentencing

purposes:

...whenever a person is to be sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score: PROVIDED, That if the court enters a finding that some or all of the current offenses encompass the same criminal conduct then those current offenses shall be counted as one crime . . . "Same criminal conduct," as used in this subsection, means two or more crimes that require the [1] same criminal intent, [2] are committed at the same time and place, and [3] involve the same victim . . .

RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

In order for the trial court to find same criminal conduct, all three requirements set forth in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) must be met. *State v. Porter*, 133 Wn.2d 177, 181, 942 P.2d 974 (1997) (citing *State v. Vike*, 125 Wn.2d 407, 410, 885 P.2d 824 (1994)).

Appellate courts review determinations of same criminal conduct for abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. *State v. Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 535-36, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme

Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Here, the Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent governing the same criminal conduct analysis, and review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

First, the Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with a decision of this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1). The State acknowledges that this Court has not explicitly overruled *Dunaway. See* State's Petition for Review, p. 5. In *Chenoweth*, the defendant was convicted of six counts of third degree rape of a child and six counts of incest, based on six incidents, each involving a single act. *State v. Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d 218, 219, 370 P.3d 6 (2016). On appeal to this Court, the defendant "argue[d] that child rape and incest, based on a single act, as a matter of law constitute the same criminal conduct for purposes of calculating his offender score." *Id.* at 221. The only element of the same criminal conduct analysis at issue was whether the two offenses shared the same criminal intent. *Id.*

This Court held "the same act constituting rape of a child and incest is not the same criminal conduct for purposes of sentencing." *Id.* at 224. In reaching this holding, this Court looked to the statutory criminal intents for third degree child rape and incest, stating that "[t]he intent to have sex with someone related to you differs from the intent to have sex with a child." *Id.* at 223. This Court reasoned that the defendant's "single act is compromised of separate and distinct statutory

pg. 9

criminal intents and therefore under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) do not meet the definition of 'same criminal conduct.'" *Id*. In reaching its holding, this Court relied upon two other cases involving rape of a child and incest. *Id*. at 221-24 (citing *State v. Bobenhouse*, 166 Wn.2d 881, 896, 214 P.3d 907 (2009); *State v. Calle*, 125 Wn.2d 769, 780, 888 P.2d 155 (1995)).

Prior to *Chenoweth*, the test applied to determine whether crimes had the same criminal intent for purposes of the same criminal conduct analysis was whether, when viewed objectively, the criminal intent did not change from one offense to the next. *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987). "Intent, in this context, is not the particular *mens rea* element of the particular crime, but rather is the offender's objective criminal purpose in committing the crime." *State v. Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. 494, 546, 299 P.3d 37 (2013) (citing *State v. Adame*, 56 Wn. App. 803, 811, 785 P.2d 1144 (1990)). "In determining whether multiple crimes constitute the same criminal conduct, courts consider 'how intimately related the crimes are,' 'whether, between the crimes charged, there was any substantial change in the nature of the criminal objective,' and 'whether one crime furthered the other."" Id. at 546-47 (quoting State v. Burns, 114 Wn.2d 314, 318, 788 P.2d 531 (1990)). The standard is the extent to which the criminal intent, objectively viewed, changed from one crime to the next. Vike, 125 Wn.2d at 411 (citing *Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d at 215). When one crime furthers another, same criminal conduct applies. State v. Garza-Villarreal, 123 Wn.2d 42, 47, 864 P.2d 1378 (1993); see also Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d at 217. And, "if one crime furthered another, and if the time and place of the crimes remained the same, then the defendant's criminal purpose or intent did not change and the offenses encompass the same criminal conduct." State v. Lessley, 118 Wn.2d 773, 777, 827 P.2d 996 (1992).

The standard set forth in *Chenoweth*, looking to the statutory criminal intents for determining whether the two offenses shared the same criminal intent, does not apply in this

case. *See Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d at 220-25. The same criminal intent test set forth in *Dunaway* has not been expressly overruled by this Court, and *Chenoweth* applies only to cases involving rape of a child and incest offenses. *See Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d at 221-24.

"This court does not take lightly invitations to overturn precedent[;] [i]nstead, this court rejects its prior holdings only upon a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful." *In re Det. of McHatton*, 197 Wn.2d 565, 572, 485 P.3d 322 (2021). *Chenoweth* contains no discussion of this required showing, and does not mention *Dunaway*. *See Chenoweth*, 185 Wn.2d at 219-225.

Furthermore, as the Court of Appeals found, *Chenoweth* does not implicitly overrule *Dunaway*:

Given *Chenoweth* did not address or analyze the standard recognized in *Dunaway*, we cannot conclude *Chenoweth* implicitly overruled *Dunaway*. A later holding of the Supreme Court will only overrule "a prior holding sub silentio when it directly contradicts the earlier rule of law." *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings*, *Inc.*, 166 Wn.2d 264, 280, 208 P.3d 1092 (2009). Here, there is no direct contradiction. *Chenoweth* specifically addressed the limited issue of how a trial court should treat the simultaneous commission of child rape and incest. Both parties asserted there was no discretion as to whether the two offenses could be classified as one offense or two. According to the defense, the two offenses must be treated the same; the State argued they had to be treated differently. The Supreme Court sided with the State.

Westwood, 500 P.3d at 187.

Next, Mr. Westwood acknowledges the Court of

Appeals' decision here is in conflict with a published decision

of the Court of Appeals. See RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Published opinions of Divisions One and Three of the Court of Appeals agree that *Chenoweth* is limited to its specific statutory context, cases of rape of a child and incest. *See Westwood*, 500 P.3d at 185-87 (Division Three) (concluding "[w]e agree with Division One of this court that *Chenoweth* is a narrow decision that must be limited to its specific statutory context."); *State v. Hatt*, 11 Wn. App. 2d 113, 138-144, 452 P.3d 577 (2019), *review denied*, 195 Wn.2d 1011, 460 P.3d 176 (2020) (Division One) (concluding "because the Supreme Court did not overrule, or even discuss, the line of case law applying the <u>Dunaway</u> test and has not applied the <u>Chenoweth</u> analysis outside of the context of those particular crimes, we believe <u>Dunaway</u> remains the applicable framework.").

A published opinion of Division Two of Court of Appeals has applied *Chenoweth* to offenses other than its specific statutory context. *See State v. Johnson*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 201, 211-13, 460 P.3d 1091 (2020), *review granted on a different issue*, 196 Wn.2d 1001, 471 P.3d 227 (2020), *aff'd* 197 Wn.2d 740, 487 P.3d 893 (2021) (applying *Chenoweth* to convictions for second degree rape of a child, commercial sexual abuse of a minor, and communication for a minor for immoral purposes).

Nonetheless, review is not warranted here, where the Court of Appeals followed this Court's precedent. *Westwood*, 500 P.3d at 187.

Finally, review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(3) or (4). This case does not involve a significant question of law under the Washington Constitution or the United States Constitution. See RAP 13.4(b)(3). Instead, it involves an issue of statutory interpretation. See RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. See RAP 13.4(b)(4). As set forth above, the law from this Court on the applicable same criminal conduct analysis is clear; the same criminal intent test set forth in *Dunaway* has not been explicitly or implicitly overruled by this Court, and *Chenoweth* applies only to cases involving rape of a child and incest offenses. See Chenoweth, 185 Wn.2d at 221-24; Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d at 215. In addition, same criminal conduct is a highly fact-specific inquiry that is unique to each case. See Graciano, 176 Wn.2d at 536 (recognizing that "[d]eciding whether crimes involve the same time, place, and victim often involves determinations of fact.").

The Court of Appeals properly applied this Court's precedent governing the same criminal conduct analysis, and review is not warranted under RAP 13.4(b).

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the State's petition for review. Alternatively, this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals.

I certify this document contains 2,614 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.